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norial Healthcare System v. Monterey Peninsula Horticulture, Inc. et al Doc.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SAN JOSE DIVISION

SALINAS VALLEY MEMORIAL Case N&:17-cv-07076-HRL
HEALTHCARE SYSTEM,

Plaintiff, ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND

DENYING IN PART MOTION TO
v. DISMISS COMPLAINT

MONTEREY PENINSULA Re: Dkt. No. 10
HORTICULTURE, INC. dba ROCKET
FARMS. et al.,

Defendants.

Plaintiff Salinas Valley Memorial Healthcare SysteHd@spital’) says it is a public
hospital district and health system in Monterey County. It sues to recover over $1.4 million it
claims defendants owe for alleged underpaid healthcare services that the Hospital provided {
employees of defendant Monterey Peninsula Hattige, Inc. dba Rocket Farms (“Rocket

Farms”) and their families. As its name suggests, Rocket Farms says it is a farm in the
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agricultural business. Defendant Monterey Peninsula Horticulture, Inc./Steven Roberts Original

Desserts, LLC Employee Benefit Plan (“Plan”) is a (now terminated) self-funded ERISA benefits
plan.

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), defendants move to dismiss the complaint. Plair]
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opposes the motion. All parties have expressly consented that all proceedings in this matter
be heard and finally adjudicated by the undersigned. 28 U.S.C. § 636(c); Fed. R. Civ. P. 73.

Upon consideration of the moving and responding papers, as well as the oral arguments pre

ma;

5ent

the court grants the motion in part and denies it in part. Plaintiff will be given leave to amend, bu

leave is limited to those matters for which amendment is expressly permitted by this order.

BACKGROUND

According to the complaint, Rocket Farms previously purchased a health insurance policy

for its employees and their families through the Western Growers Association (“Association”).
Plaintiff says that, pursuant to its contract with the Association, the Hospital was reimbursed
83% of its bills for inpatient care and 82% of its bills for outpatient care.

The complaint goes on to allege that beginning on July 1, 2014 and continuing throug

June 30, 2017, Rocket Farms switched from the Association’s contracted health care arrangement

for

=)

to the defendant self-funded Plan, which had no network of hospitals. This change, says plaintiff

was made as part of a deliberate strategy by defendants to cut costs, diminish employees’ level of
benefits, and underpay the Hospital.

The Hospital says that, after shifting to the self-funded Plan, Rocket Farms began pay
roughly only a third of the amounts billed for services rendered. Specifically, the complaint
alleges that every one of the Hasps reimbursement claims was paid at 140% of rates the

federal government pays under the Medicargmarn, which plaintiff says is “an unusually low

level of reimbursement” from a non-government payor like Rocket Farms. (Dkt. 1, Complaint §

40). Additionally, plaintiff alleges that Rocket Farms misled its own employees (and the Hos
about the fact that hospital services would only be covered up to 140% of Medicare rates. P
further alleges that defendants improperly denied the Hospital’s numerous appeals seeking
additional payment and aggressively threatened litigation when the Hospital asked any of its
patients to pay the balance on any unpaid bill.

The Hospital goes on to allege that in phone calls to verify/approve coverage for seve
Rocket Farms patients, defendants (falsely) represented to the Hospital that the Plan would

70% of the patient’s medical bills, up to a certain dollar amount, after which it would cover 100%-
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--and failed to disclose that payments under the Plan would actually be capped at 140% of

Medicare.

Plaintiff says 1 learned that, as of July 1, 2017, Rocket Farms changed back to the heglth

insurance arrangement under the Association. So, the Plan is no longer in force. Neverthelgss,

plaintiff contends that doesn’t excuse Rocket Farms from paying over $1.4 million for services the

Hospital provided during the 3-year period that the Plan was in effect. To that end, it filed the

present suit, asserting five claims for relief: (1) violation of ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B); (2) violatign

of the Affordable Care Act (ACA), Section 270via ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B)”; (3) violation of the
Lanham Act 8§ 43(a) (unfair advertising); (4) intentional misrepresentation; and (5) negligent
misrepresentation.

The central dispute is whether the Plan required payment at 140% of Medicare, and

14

nothing more (as defendants contend) or whether, as plaintiff claims, the Plan terms mean that tl

Hospital is owed “reasonable and customary” payments, which the Hospital maintains are well
above 140% of Medicare.

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), defendants now move to dismiss the complaint,
arguing that the Hospital has no standing to bring the ERISA and ACA claims; and that the
complaint fails, in any event, to allege a viable claim for relief. For the reasons to be discuss
the court grants the motion in part and denies the motion in part.

LEGAL STANDARD

A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) test
the legal sufficiency of the claims in the complaint. Navarro v. Block, 250 F.3d 729, 732 (9th
2001). Dismissal is appropriate where there is no cognizable legal theory or an absence of
sufficient facts alleged to support a cognizable legal thelory(citing Balistreri v. Pacifica

Police Dep’t, 901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990)). In such a motion, all material allegations in

complaint must be taken as true and construed in the light most favorable to the claimant. 1d.

However, “[t]hreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory
statements, do not suffice.” Ashcroft v. Igba) 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009). Moreover, “the court

is not required to accept legal conclusions cast in the form of factual allegations if those
3
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conclusions cannot reasonablydvewn from the facts alleged.” Clegg v. Cult Awareness
Network, 18 F.3d 752, 754-55 (9th Cir. 1994).

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) requires only “a short and plain statement of the
claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.” This means that the “[f]actual allegations
must be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level.” Bell Atlantic Corp. v.
Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007) (citations omitted)
However, only plausible claims for relief will survive a motion to dismiss. Igbal, 129 S. Ct. at
1950. A claim is plausible if its factual content permits the court to draw a reasonable inferer
that the defendant is liable for the alleged misconduct. Id. A plaintiff does not have to provid
detailed facts, but the pleading must include “more than an unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfully-
harmedme accusation.” 1d. at 1949.

Documents appended to the complaint or which properly are the subject of judicial no

may be considered along with the complaint when deciding a Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) motion.

Hal Roach Studios, Inc. v. Richard Feiner & Co., Inc., 896 F.2d 1542, 1555 n.19 (9th Cir. 19
MGIC Indem. Corp. v. Weisman, 803 F.2d 500, 504 (9th Cir. 1986).

While leave to amend generally is granted liberally, the court has discretion to dismiss
claim without leave to amend if amendment would be futile. Rivera v. BAC Home Loans
Servicing, L.P., 756 F. Supp.2d 1193, 1997 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (citing Dumas v. Kipp, 90 F.3d 3
393 (9th Cir. 1996)).

DISCUSSION

A. Defendants’ Request for Judicial Notice

Defendants’ request for judicial notice is granted as unopposed with respect to (1) certain
summary plan documents (“SPDs”); (2) excerpts from the Federal Register; and (3) ACA
regulations. T court also accepts plaintiff’s submission of the SPD the Hospital says is quoted
in the complaint. Defendants’ request for judicial notice is denied as to an audit report, which is
irrelevant to the disposition of issues presented.

Pursuant to plaintifs “Statement of Recent Decision,” (Dkt. 23) the court has also

received (without objection) a May 3, 2018 “Clarification of Final Rules” published in the Federal
4

ice

e

ice

Se
D0);

86,




United States District Court
Northern District of California

© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N N N N N N N N DN P P R R R R R R R
0o N o o A WO N R O O 0O N o A W N - O

Register. (Dkt. 23).

B. Claim 1: ERISA Section 502(a)(1)(B), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B)

This claim, as aiculated in plaintiff’s rather convoluted complaint, appears to be based gn

two theories. First,lpintiff contends that the Plan requires the Hospital to be paid the “reasonable
and customaryrate for its services---a rate that plaintiff ntains is “significantly higher than
140% of Medicare.” (Complaint 1134, 40). The problem, according to the complaint, is that
defendants “did not pay the Hospital at its Reasonable and Customary rates,” and instead

consistently set payment at the fixed rate of 140% of Medicéde{( 37-39). Second, the

complaint goes on to allege that any Plan provisions suggesting that benefits are capped at 1409

of Medicare are unenforceable because (1) anytsu@k are “buried deep” in the Plan and

violate ERISA disclosure requirements; and (2) to the extent defendants had discretion to

determine the level of payment to be made, defendants had a structural conflict of interest, in tha

they had a direct financial interest to pay as few benefits as possibl§ Zb-218).

Defendants move to dismiss, arguing that the Hospital lacks standing to pursue this c
because plaintiff is seeking payment beyond what is owed under the Plan. Additionally, to th
extent the complaint also alleges violations of ERISA disclosure requirements or conflicts of
interest, defendants argue that those are breach of fiduciary issues that the Hospital has no
standing to assert.

ERISA Section 502(a)(1)(B) provides that a participant or beneficiary may bring a civil
aaion “to recover benefits due to him under the terms of his plan, to enforce his rights under the
terms of the plan, or to clarify his rights to future benefits under the terms of the plan.” 29 U.S.C.

§ 1132(a)(1)(B). The Hospital is not a Plan participant or beneficiary. Nevertheless, provide

may obtain derivative standing to sue by an assignment from a plan participant or beneficiary.

Misic v. Bldg. Serv. Employees Health & Welfare Trust, 789 F.2d 1374, 1378-79 (9th Cir. 198
The Hospital’s complaint alleges that pursuant to a “‘Conditions of Admission’ form executed by
each Rocket Farms beneficiary or participant (and/or a representative of such individual), thg
Hospital is the assignee of all benefits under the Plan for each of the dlassus @ this case.”

(Complaint § 212).Thus, the Hospital says it “is entitled under ERISA to pursue all payment that
5
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is due to any Rocket Farms beneficiary or participant under the Plan for the medical serviceg
rendered to those individuals at thespical.” (1d. 1 213).
Defendants do not challenge the allegation that the Hospital obtained valid assignments.
Nevertheless, defendants contend that the patient assignments are limited to payment of benefit
under the Plan---an assertion that the Hospital does not deny. As such, defendants argue that tt
Hospital laks standing to pursue their “reasonable and customary” rate theory because defendants

have already paid all that is due under the Plan, and hence, there is no relief that plaintiff may se
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under the Plan.

As previewed above, the Hospital disputes that it properly was paid according to the Rlan
terms. Thus, plaintiff says that defendants’ motion does not really present an issue of standing.
Nevertheless, defendants maintain that plaintiff’s theory for payment of “reasonable and
customary” rates that are far in excess of 140% of Medicare is based on a flawed interpretation|of
the Plan’s terms.

“To state a claim for benefits under ERISA, plan participants and beneficiaries have to
plead facts niking it plausible that a provider owes benefits under the plan.” Elizabeth L. v. Aetna
Life Ins. Co., No. C13-02554 SC, 2014 WL 2621408, at *2 (N.D. Cal. June 12, 2014) (citing 29
U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B); Igbas56 U.S. at 677). Thus, “[a] plaintiff who brings a claim for
benefits under ERISA must identify a specific plan term that confers the benefit in question.”

Steelman v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America, No. CIV S-06-2746 LKK/GGH, 2007 WL 108065

Q)

at *7 (E.D. Cal., Apr. 4, 2007) (citation omitted).n Action may be dismissed “if the plaintiff is
not entitled to a benefit they seek under the ERit&lated plan.” Id. (citation omitted).

“In interpreting an ERISA plan, the Court must apply contract principles derived from
state law, guided by policies expressed in ERISA and other federal labor law.” Elizabeth L., 2014
WL 2621408, at *2 (citing Richardson v. Pension Plan of Bethlehem Steel Corp., 112 F.3d 982,
985 (9th Cir. 1997)).“In doing so, the Court must interpret the plan’s terms in an ordinary and
popular sense, as would a person of average intelligence and experience.” 1d. (citing Richardson,
112 F.3d at 985):‘In resolving disputes over ERISA plans, the Court must look first to the

agreement’s specific language and determine the parties’ clear intent, relative to the context giving

6
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rise to the language’s inclusion.” 1d. (citing Richardsonl 12 F.3d at 985). “Finally, the Court

must construe each provision consistently with the entire document such that no provision is

rendered nugatory.” Id. (citing Gilliam v. Nev. Power Co., 488 F.3d 1189, 1194 (9th Cir. 2007)).

The Hospital’s theory as to why it must be paid a “reasonable and customary” rate far
above 140% of Medicare is based on two parts of the-Flam Schedule of Benefits and the
definition of “Allowable Charges.” Basically, plaintiff claims that these provisions, taken
together, mean that the Hospital must be paid “Allowable Charges” (which include “reasonable
and customary” charges) in an amount established by “applicable law”; and, plaintiff says that the
applicable law in California sets “reasonable and customary” rates way above 140% of Medicare.
For the reasons to be discussed, the court agrees with defendants that the Hospital’s proffered
interpretation of the Plan fails to establish a plausible claim for relief.

The complaint points out that the Plan’s Schedule of Benefits provides, in relevant part:

All benefits described in this Schedule are subject to the exclusions and
limitations described more fully herein including, but not limited to, the
Plan Administrator’s determination that: care and treatment is Medically
Necessarythat charges are reasonable and customary (as defined as an
Allowable Charge), that services, supplies and care are not Experimental
and/or Investigational. The meanings of these capitalized terms are in the
Defined Terms section of this document.

(Dkt. 16 at ECF p. 18) (emphasis added). Additionally, the complaint notes that the Schedul
Benefits goes on to state that “Covered Charges” for “Hospital Services,” including emergency
and inpatient care, are paid at “70% after $250 copayment (per admission) and deductible,”
subject to three exceptions: (1) “Amounts over the Allowable Charge” will not be paid; (2)
“Ineligible charges” will not be paid; and neither will (3) “Invalid Charges (Refer to the Claims
Review and Validation Program section).” (Complaint § 67; Dkt. 16 at ECF p. 20 The
complaint suggests that the latter two exceptions never came up. Plaintiff alleges that defen
never disputed that the services rendered were medically necessary and did not identify any
errors made by the Hospital. (Complaint § 72).

Focusing, then, on the definition of “Allowable Charge,” plaintiff notes that the

“Allowable Charge” definition includes language stating:

Thereasonable and customary chargshall mean an amount equivalent to
7
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the 85th percentile of a commercially available databaseor such other

cost or quality-based reimbursement methodologies as may be available and
adopted by the Plan. If there are insufficient charges submitted for a given
procedure, the Plan will determine an Allowable Charge based upon
charges made for similar services Determination of the reasonable and
customary charge will consider tmature and severity of the condition

being treated, medical complications or unusual circumstances that
require more time, skill or experience, and the cost and quality data for

that provider.

For Covered Charges rendered by a Physicldospital or Ancillary
Provider in a geographic area whegplicable law dictates the maximum
amount that can be billed by the rendering provider, the Allowable Charge
shall mean the amount established dpplicable law for that Covered
Charges [sic].

(Dkt. 16 at ECF p. 43) (emphasis added). Plaintiff says this last quoted paragraph is key be¢

California “has a very well-developed body of law that governs how reasonable and customar
payment should be determined in the absence of a contract between a payor and a provider.” (DKt.
15 Opp. at ECF p. 13).

The problem for the Hospital is that it ignores the entire pisgiion of the “Allowable
Charge” definition, which sayan “Allowable Charge” is the “lesserof” four options, only one of
which is “the reasonable and customary charge for the same treatment, service, or supply
furnished in the same geographic area”. (Dkt. 16 at ECF p. 43). The relevant portion of the

definition states:

Allowable Charge means the charge for a treatment, service, or supply that
is the lesser of (i) the charge made by the provider that furnished the care,
service, or supply; (i) the negotiated amount established by a provider
network arrangement or other discounting or negotiation arrangement; (iii)
the reasonable and customary charge for the same treatment, service, or
supply furnished in the same geographic area by a provider of like service
as further described below; or (iv) an amount equivalent to the following:

. For specialty drugs, the lesser of average wholesale price (AWP)
minus 10% or the amount set by the Plan’s prescription drug service
vendor;

. For inpatient or outpatient facility claims, an amount equivalent to
200% of the Medicare equivalent allowable.

(Id.) (emphasis added). Thus, to the extent that plaintiff contend&thef the definitions
referenced in the Schedule of Benefits confirm that the Plan must pay at a Reasonable and

Customary level for service provided by hospit@{Somplaint § 71) at a level far above 140% of

aus
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Medicare, it fails to convince. And, while plaintiff points out that the other options for calculating

the Allowable Charge include the Hospital’s full billed charges, that fact is of no particular import
sinceno one seems to contend that plaintiff’s full billed charges would be the “lesser” of the listed
options.

Moreover plaintiff has no rejoinder to defendants’ argument that ERISA generally has
“powerful preemptive force” with respect to state laws. Cleghorn v. Blue Shield of California,

408 F.3d 1222, 1225 (9th Cir. 2005) (observing that ERISA “expressly preempts all state laws
‘insofar as they may now or hereafter relate to any employee benefit plan’’) (quoting 29 U.S.C. 8§
1144(a)); see also Hewlett-Packard Co. v. Barnes, 571 F.2d 502, 504 (9th Cir. 1978) (holdin
“[t]he clear wording of section 514 and the relevant legislative history shows that Congress
unmistakably intended ERISA to preemptae law such as [California’s] Knox-Keene [Act] that
directly regulates employee benefit plans.”); Vrijesh S. Tantuwaya MD, Inc. v. Anthem Blue Cross
Life & Health Ins. Ca.169 F. Supp.3d 1058, 1072 (S.D. Cal. 2016) (concluding that a provider’s
state law claims to recover benefits under the terms of a self-funded plan were preempted by
ERISA).

In defendants’ view, the Plan (properly construed) means that benefits are paid at a
reasonable and customary rageto 140% of Medicare, and no more. They say this is so becal
(1) the Plan provides that “Covered Charges” are determined based on the Plan’s Permitted
Payment Levels; and (Z)e Plan’s Claim Review and Validation Program, in turn, provides that
the Plan pays hospital providers the reasonable, usual and customary charges up to the Per
Payment Level of 140% of Medicare. According to defendants, proper interpretation of the H
goes like this:

Start by looking at the Medical Benefits section of the Plan, which states that “Hospital
and Faciliy charges” are “evaluated under the Claim Review Program,” and that “Covered

Charges” are determined based on “Permitted Payment Levels”:

Medical Benefits apply when Covered Charges are incurred by a Covered
Person for care of an Injury or Sickness and while the person is covered for
these benefits under the PlanHospital and Facility charges will be
evaluated under the Claim Review Program, and Covered Charges will be
determined based upon the “Permitted Payment Levels.” Please refer to
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the Claim Review and Validation Program section of the Plan for additional
information about Claim Review and Permitted Payment Levels.

(Dkt. 10-1, Ex. A at ECF p. 30; Dkt. 16 at ECF p. 29) (emphasis added). The Plan goes on t
that “Covered Charges are the Allowable Charges that are incurred for” a list of services and
items, including “Hospital Care,” and which “are subject to the benefit limits, exclusions and other
provisions of this Plan.” (Dkt. 10-1, Ex. A at ECF p. 30; Dkt. 16 at ECF p. 29).

Defendants further note that, as statethe Medical Benefits section, “Hospital and
Facility charges” are evaluated under the “Claim Review Program.” The Claim Review Program
section of the Plan provides, in relevant part: “For claim determinations made in accordance with
the Claim Review and Validation Program, the Usual and Customary fee will be the Permitte
Payment kvels.” (Dkt. 10-1, Ex. A at ECF p. 62; Dkt. 16 at ECF p.)62Permitted Payment

Level(s),” in turn, is defined as:

charges for services and supplies included as Covered Expenses under the
Plan that are Medically Necessary for the care and treatment of lllness or
Injury, but only to the extent that such fees are within applicable limits
established in this Plan including, but without limitation, in the Claim
Review and Validation Program section of the Plan.

(Dkt. 10-1, Ex. A at ECF p. 61; Dkt. 16, Ex. A at ECF p. 61). And, the Plan further provides t
the Permitted Payment Level for charges by Hospitals is the greater of either Medicare allow

reimbursement plus 40% or 140% of Hospital’s costs based on Medicare rates:

Hospitals and Affiliated Facilities. The Permitted Payment Level for
charges by Hospitals and Affiliated Facilities (collectively, “Hospital
Facilities”) shall be based upon the greater of Medicare allowable
reimbursement plus 40% or 140% of the Hospital’s costs reflected in the
Hospital’s most recent departmental cost ratio report to the Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) and as published in the
American Hospital Directory as the “Medicare Cost Report” (the “CMS
Cost Ratio”).

(Dkt. 10-1, Ex. A at ECF p. 63).Thus, defendants argue that the Plan provides that Hospital

charges are reimbursed at up to 140% of Medicare, and no more. Further, defendants point

! Of course, the court could be wrong, but the (seemingly) comparable provision in the SPD
provided by plaintiff says something different, i.e., it distinguishes between inpatient and
outpatient hospital services and contains different percentages (ranging from 135% to 180%
Medicareand also references “the amount of usual, customary and reasonable fees for the cove
services. (Dkt. 16 at ECF p. 64). However, neither side has said anything about this appare
difference. So, the court proceeds with the arguments that have been presented.
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that the Schedule of Benefits states, in bold italic font, that “The Covered Person may be
balanced billed[i.e., required to pay the outstanding balance of the provider’s bill] by the Non-
Participating Provider for any amount over the Allowable Charge” (Dkt. 10-1, Ex. A at ECF p.
20; Dkt. 16 at ECF p. 18). They argue that this sentence would be nugatory if the Plan was
required to pay the Hospital’s full billed charges---because, in that circumstance, there never
would be a balance between what the Plan paid the Hospital and the Allowable Charge.

The complaint alleges that any Plan terms suggesting that benefits are capped at 140
Medicare are unenforceable beca(igeny such terms are “buried deep” in the Plan and violate
ERISA disclosure requirements; and (2) to the extent defendants had discretion to determine
level of payment to be made, defendants had a structural conflict of interest, in that they had
direct financial interest to pay as few benefits as possible. (Complaint {1 215-211&)is Tee
dispute that the Hospital’s derivative standing to sue is based on what validly is assigned from
Plan beneficiaries. Nor is there any apparent dispute that the relevant beneficiary assignme
the Hospital are limited to claims for payment of benefits under the Plan. As such, defendan
contend that allegations about violating disclosure rules or about conflicts of interest essentig
are claims for breach of fiduciary duty that plaintiff has no standing to assert. The Hospital d
not deny that these kinds of allegations ordinarily pertain to besactiduciary duty. But,
pointing out that it has not asserted any actual claims for breach of fiduciary duty, the Hospit
argues that it properly may pursue alleged conflicts of interest and enforce ERISA disclosure
obligations as part and parcel of its claim to obtain payment of benefits.

With respect to allegations about purported conflicts of interestdigits’ motion to
dismiss for lack of standing is granted without leave to amend. By its complaint, plaintiff
apparently seeks a determination that defendants abused their discretion and had conflicts g
interest that kept them from properly administering the Plan. (See, e.g., Complaint § 38). THh
strikes the court asde facto claim for breach of fiduciary duty in the guise of a claim for paym
of benefits, and plaintiff has not cited authority even remotely suggesting that it properly may,
pursue that theory.

The court reaches the same conclusion with respetiitaiff’s attempt to enforce ERISA
11
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disclosure rules and regulations. The complaint alleges that provisnamsely, those pertaining
to the “Claim Review and Validation Program”---should not be enforced because they are “buried

deep” in the SPD; consist of dense, conflicting, and interlinked definitions; and do not bear any

relation to the rest of the Plan document. In sum, the Hospital alleges that no ordinary person

would understand that the SPD (purportediimjts benefits for the Hospital’s service to 140% of
Medicare. (Complairf74-87). This, says plaintiff, constitutes a violation of 29 U.S.C. § 102
which provides that an SPD “shall be written in a manner calculated to be understood by the
average plan participant, and shall be sufficiently accurate and comprehensive to reasonably
apprise such participants and beneficiaries of their rights and obligations under the plan.” 29
U.S.C. § 1022(a); Complaint  79. Additionally, plaintiff alleges (Compf{i®0-81) that
“Claim Review and Validation Program” provisions do not comply with the regulation at 29
C.F.R. § 2520.102-2(b) which requires thather (1) the description or summary of the
restrictive provision must be placed ‘in close conjunction with the description or summary of
benefits,” or (2) the page on which the restrictive provision is described must be ‘noted’ ‘adjacent
to the benefitlescription.”” Spinedex Physical Therapy USA, Inc. v. United Healthcare of
Arizona, Inc., 770 F.3d 1282, 1295 (9th Cir. 2014) (quoting 29 C.F.R. § 2520.102-2(b)).
Although the Hospital argues that it properly may enforce ERISA’s disclosure
requirements here, most of the cases plaintiff primarily relies upon are inapposite in that they,
concern suits filed by plan beneficiaries; so, there was no question about standing. Closer td
mark is the Spinedex case, cited above. Spinedex concerned SPD provisions that imposed 4
year time bar on benefits claims. Pursuant to those provisions, the district court held that the
provider’s derivative suit for payment of benefits was untimely. The Ninth Circuit reversed.
Specifically, it held that the provisions in question were not properly disclosed as required by
U.S.C. § 1022(b); and, the failure to properly disclose those provisions rendered them
unenforceable. 770 F.3d at 1295-96. Although Spinedex indicates that the provider was abl
avall itself of the disclosure rule in 29 U.S.C. § 1022(b), that apparently was so that the provi
could preserve its ability to pursue the benefits claims indisputably assigned to it by beneficia

This court finds no basis to broadly construe Spinedex as generally conferring standing upon
12
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providers, like the Hospital, to enforce BSR’s disclosure requirements in derivative suits for
payment of benefits. Absent citation to better authority by plaintiff, the cournsgkeiandants’
motion to dismiss as to ERISA’s disclosure obligations. However, the court will give plaintiff
leave to amend.

The complaint alleges that defendants’ interpretation can’t be correct because the Schedule
of Benefits “states only that payment iS to be made at the reasonable and customary level, as
‘defined as an Allowable Charge.”” (Complaint § 83). Further, plaintiff alleges that the Schedule
of Benefits “states that ‘Hospital Services’ are paid at ‘70% after $250 copayment (per admission
and deductiblé,and that the only applicable limitation on such benefits is the definition of
‘Allowable Charge.”” (Id.). These allegations, however, turn on plaintiff’s interpretation of
“Allowable Charge” as requiring payment of “reasonable and customary” rates. For the reasons
already discussed, that interpretation is not plausible.

Defendants’ motion to dismiss this claim is granted. Except as otherwise set out above, the
claim is dismissed with leave to amend.

C. Claim 2: ACA Section 2707, 42 U.S.C. § 300gg-6

As an apparent alternative route to obtain payment of the Plan benefits, the Hospital s
to enforce maximum out-of-pocket (sometimes refetsed “MOOP”) requirements---primarily
under the Plars MOOP terms, but also through the AGMOOP provisions. Here, plaintiff
refers to limits on the annual out-of-pocket expenses a patient is responsible for paying. In g
nutshell, the Hospital claims that defendants not only improperly failed to count all out-of-pog
healthcare expenses toward the annual MOOP threshold for each patient, but also failed to |
the MOOP once the threshold was met (i.e., by paying only 140% of Medicare rates, instead
100% of a patient’s expenses above the threshold).

Defendants move to dismiss, arguing that the Hospital lacks standing to pursue this c
and fails, in any event, to state a viable claim for relief.

1. The Plan’s MOOP Terms
In this portion of the complaint, the Hospital says that the ACA’s MOOP requirement “is

separate and distinct from the annual MOOP limits set forth in the Plan itself, which the Hosg
13
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seeks to enforce separate and apart from ACA’s MOOP.” (Complaint § 94). Because the dispute
presented by this litigation is whether the Hospital properly was paid under the Plan, insofar
defendants argue that the Hospital lacks standing because it seeks benefits beyond what
defendants have already paid (which is atkdéants contend is owed), the court doesn’t find that

particular argument persuasive.

In its opposition, plaintiff seems to argue that the SPD provisions are contradictory with

respect to a patient’s MOOP. In particular, the Hospital notes that the Schedule of Benefits says:

Coinsurance will accumulate to the maximum out-of-pocket amount until
the maximum out-of-pocket amount, as shown in the Schedule of Benefits,
is reached. Then, Covered Charges incurred by a Covered Person will be
payable at 100% (except for any charges which do not accrue to the
maximum out-of-pocket amount) for the remainder of the Calendar Year.

(Dkt. 16 at ECF p. 19). And, plaintiff says that a similar statement appears in the Schedule g
Benefits table: “The Plan will pay the designated percentage of Covered Charges until out-of-
pocket amounts are reached, at which time the Plan will pay 100% of the remainder of Cove
Charges for the rest of the Calendar Year unless stated otherwise.” (Id. at 20). The Hospital
emphasizethat the Schedule of Benefits table goes on to indicate that “Covered Charges” include
“Hospital Services” such as “Room and Board,” “Intensive Care Unit,” and “Emergency Room
Services.” (Id.). The Hospital argues that these provisions necessarily mean that, for
approximately 50-100 Rocket Farms patients whose MOOP thresholds allegedly were reach
Plan requires defendants to pay 100% of the amounts over the threshold.

Defendants point out that the Plan expressly does not tBxetss Charges,” meaning
“[t]he part of an expense for care and treatment of an Injury or Sickness that is in excess of the
Allowable Charge.” (Dkt. 10-1, Ex. A at ECF p. 49; Dkt. 16 at ECF p. 49). Defendants further
argue that this exclusion is entirely consistent with the Schedule of Benefits table, which says
“Amounts over the Allowable Charge” “do not apply toward the out-of-pocket maximum and are
never paid at 100%.” (Id. at ECF p. 22). Plaintiff argues, in its opposition brief, that this carve
out for amounts over the Allowable Charge does nothing to modify the statement immediatel
above it about payment of 100% of out-of-pocket expenses over the MOOP threahlddst

not without contradicting it entirely. Presumably, plaintiff refers here to language in the Sche
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of Benefits stating:

The Plan will pay the designated percentage of Covered Charges until the
maximum out-of-pocket amounts are reached, at which time the Plan will
pay 100% of the remainder of Covered Charges for the rest of the Calendar
Year unless stated otherwise.

(Dkt. 10-1, Ex. A at ECF p. 22; Dkt. 16 at ECF p. 20). However, defendants note that the Pl
stateghat “Covered Charges are the Allowable Charges that are incurred for” a list of services and
items, including “Hospital Care,” and which “are subject to the benefit limits, exclusions and other
provisions of this Plan.” (Dkt. 10-1, Ex. A at ECF p. 30; Dkt. 16 at ECF p. 29). Plaintiff retorts
that the terms relied upon by defendants are not adequately disclosed in violation of the disc
rule under 29 U.S.C. § 1022. But, for the reasons discussed above, the court is not convincg
plaintiff has standing to pursue that theory. Insofar asitsisi on the Plan’s MOOP terms, this
claim is dismissed, with leave to amend.
2. The ACA’s MOOP Limitation

ACA Section 2707(b) limits the out-of-pocket (MOOP) expenses that a health plan cal
impose on a patient in a plaear: “A group health plan shall ensure that any annual cost-shar]
imposed under the plan does not exceed the limitations provided for under [42 U.S.C. §
18022(c)(1)].”). 42 U.S.C. 8§ 300gg-6(b). And,18022(c)(1) says that “[t]he cost-sharing
incurred under a health plan . . . shall not exceed the dollar amounts in effect” for a given plan
year. 1d. 8 18022(c)J1 According to the complaint’s allegations: The ACA’s MOOP
requirement applies to expenditures for essential health benefits (ElBs)while self-funded
plans are not required to offer EHBs, the defendant Plan allegedly was designed to cover EH
Thus, plaintiff says thahe ACA’s MOOP provisions requitée Plan “to provide substantial
coverage for those EHBs, and to limit plan members’ annual out-of-pocket expenditures for such

EHBs.” (Complaint 197, 101).

2 Plaintiff refers here to the ten categories of EHBs listed in 42 U.S.C. § 18022(b)(1), i.e.,
ambulatory patient services; emergency services; hospitalization; maternity and newborn caf
mental health and substance abuse use disorder services, including behavioral health treatn
prescription drugs; rehabilitative and habilitative services and devices; laboratory services;
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preventive wellness services and chronic disease management; and pediatric services, including

oral and vision care.
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According to the Hospitallefendants essentially ignored the ACA’s cost-sharing
limitations by paying onl a small portion of the Hospital’s bills (i.e., 140% of Medicare) and by
failing to count he Hospital’s charges toward each patient’s MOOP threshold, thus leaving Plan
beneficiaries to pay the considerable balance of the charges. (Complaint 11 90, 91, 93). PIg
claims that because the Plan had no network of hospitals, the ACA requirédidatire unpaid
balance on each reimbursement claithe soealled ‘balance bill’---must count towards
satisfying the MOOP. ..” (Id. 192). In other words, once a patient’s cost-sharing limit has been

met, the Hospital says that the ACA requires defendarfisay 100% of the patient’s eligible

healthcare expenses above thestiwld for the remainder of the calendar year.” (Id. § 93).

lintif

Defendants argue that plaintiff lacks standing to assert claims for alleged ACA violatigns.

Plaintiff maintains that it can bring an ACA claim, via ERFS#hich may explain why the
complaint styles this claim as one for violationtlaf “ACA Section 2707(b) via ERISA Section
502(a)(1)(B).” Here, plaintiff alleges that, as stated in 29 U.S.C. § 1185d, ERISA incorporate(
certain provisions of the Public Health Service Act (as amended by the ACA), including the
ACA’s MOOP provision. (Complaint § 225). Defendants do not convincingly refute that
allegation.

Nonetheless, defendants argue that the claim should be dismissed ldecalse’s
MOOP requirements (1) do not apply to self-funded plans like the Plan; and (2) dolgot app
anyway,because the ACA expressly excludes “non-network providers” from the statute’s cost-
sharing requirements.

The court is unpersuaded by defendants’ argument that the ACA MOOP requirements

don’t apply to self-funded plans like the Plan. As discussed above, the ACA imposes its cost

sharing limitation on “group health plan[s].” 42 U.S.C. 8 300gg-6(b). The ACA goes on to defing

the term ““group health plan” as:

an employee welfare benefit plan (as defined in section 3(1) of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974ip the extent that the

plan provides medical care (as defined in paragraph (2)and including
items and services paid for as medical care) to employees or their
dependents (as defined under the terms of the plan) directly or through
insurance, reimbursement, or ath&e.”
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Id. 8 300gg91(a)(1). “Medical care,” in turn, is broadly defined as:

amounts paid for

(A) the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease, or
amounts paid for the purpose of affecting any structure or function of
the body,

(B) amounts paid for transportation primarily for and essential to medical
care referred to in subparagraph (A), and

(C) amounts paid for insurance covering medical care referred to in
subparagraphs (A) and (B).

Id. 8 3009g9-91(2)(A)-(C). And, relevant to the discussion here, ERISA section 3(1) defines tl

terms “employee welfare benefit plan” and “welfare plan” as:

any plan, fund, or program which was heretofore or is hereafter established
or maintained by an employer or by an employee organization, or by both,
to the extent that such plan, fund, or program was established or is
maintained for the purpose of providing for its participants or their
beneficiaries, through the purchase of insurance or otherwisg (A)
medical, surgical, or hospital care or benefits, or benefits in the event of
sickness, accident, disability, death or unemployment . . ..

29 U.S.C. 8 1002(1)The court is satisfied that “group health plan” as used in the ACA’s MOOP

provision applies to the Plan. Defendants have not convincingly demonstrated that definitior]

thedifferent term “health plan,” as defined elsewhere in the ACA, govern.

Even so, defendants argue that this claim is subject to dismissal béeai§&’s cost-

sharing requirements expressly exclude balance bills from non-network providers. They poif

that the ACA provides:
(A) In general
The term “cost-sharing” includes--

(i) deductibles, coinsurance, copayments, or similar charges; and

(i) any other expenditure required of an insured individual which is a
qualified medical expense (within the meaning of section 223(d)(2) of Title
26) with respect to essential health benefits covered under the plan.

(B) Exceptions

Such term does not includepremiums balance billing amounts for non-
network providers, or spending for non-covered services.

17
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42 U.S.C. § 18022(c)(3) (emphasis added). The key dispute here is whether the cost-sharin
exception under § 18022(c)(3)(Byr “non-network providers” applies to the Hospital.
Defendants say yes, pointing out that the Plan had a network of providers, and the Hospital \
not in that network. So, defendants argue that logically, the Hospital Ymasanetwork
provider” with respect to the Plan. Plaintiff, on the other hand, argues that the exception does
apply because the Plan has no network of hospitals-aegado, plaintiff contends, there can be n
such thing aan “in-network hospital” or a “non-network hospital.” In plaintiffs’ view, the “non-
network providers” exception only applies to group health plans that actually have a network of
providers that can provide the hospital services covered by the Plan. (Complaint § 175).
Defendants point out that in a similar case filed by the Hospital, a court in this district

rejected the very argument that plaintiff presents here. IndeSdjmas Valley Mem'l

vas

not

Healthcare Sys. v. Envirotech Molded Products, Inc., Judge Koh concluded that under the plain

language of the statutglaintiff’s interpretation of the term “non-network provider” was

unpersuasive:

The Court does not find Plaintiff's position to be the most reasonable
interpretation of “non-network provider” as used in § 18022(c)(3)(B).
Under a plain reading of those words, a hospital is a “non-network
provider” in relation to a health plan if (1) the health plan has a network of
providers; and (2) the hospital is not one of those providers. Under this
straightforward reading, Plaintiff would qualify as a ‘“non-network
provider.”  In contrast, Plaintiff’s interpretation of “non-network
provider” adds another requirement. In Plaintiff's view, a hospital is a
“non-network provider” in relation to a health plan only if (1) the health
plan has a network of providers; (2) the hospital is not one of those
providers;and (3) health plan beneficiaries have an in-network option for
obtaining the services that the hospital provides Thus, under Plaintiff's
construction of § 18022(¢)(3)(B), because none of Defendants’ in-network
providers offered the hospital and emergency services that Plaintiff
provided to the Patient, Plaintiff cannot be ddesd a “non-network
provider’---even though Defendants had a network of providers and
Plaintiff was not part of that network.

No. 17CV-03887-LHK, 2017 WL 5172389, at *4 (N.D. Cal., Nov. 8, 2017) (emphasis added)
Apparently, the only support plaintiff cited for its interpretation of “non-network provier” was a
citation to the regulation at 45 C.F.R. § 156.130. Judge Koh was not persuaded by that argy

either:
18
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.. .. Plaintiff points specifically to 45 C.F.R. § 156.130(c), which states as follows:

(c) Special rule for network plans. In the case of a plan using a
network of providers, cost-sharing paid by, or on behalf of, an
enrollee for benefits provided outside of such network is not
required to count toward the annual limitation on cost sharing (as
defined in paragraph(a) of this section).

Plaintiff argues that “[t]he wording of this regulation strongly suggests that,

in order for ‘network providers’ and ‘non-network providers’ to be
meaningful categories, the health plan at issue must use a network of
providers.” Pl. Opp. at 9.

However, Plaintiff has not alleged that Defendants did not use a network of
providers. Instead, Plaintiff has alleged that there were no in-network
providers of emergency services and hospital care. See Compl. { 33.
Further, Plaintiff concedes that self-insured plans, like Defendant Plan, are
not required to offer any particular essential health services or set of health
services. Pl. Opp. at-6. Thus, given that self-insured plans are not

required to cover any particular essential health services, it appears
inconsistent that self-insured plans would be required to include providers
of any particular essential health services in their networks. Thus, the Court
is not persuaded by Plaintiff's argument regarding 45 C.F.R. § 156.130(c).

In response, the Hospital hastens to point out that although Judge Koh found the

defendants’ interpretation of § 18022 to be more consistent with the plain language of the statute,

she also “acknowledge[d] that self-insured plans, like Defendant Plan, can circumvent 42 U.S.C.

18022(c)(1)’s cost-sharing limitations by excluding providers of expensive services---such as
hospital and emergency services---from their netwdmsting that sucltonduct “would be
inconsistent with the spirit of the statutory scheme.” Id. Neverthelesdudge Koh’s ultimate
conclusion is what it is-and this court is inclined to agree with it, unless plaintiff has somethin
more that will persuade its interpretation of § 18022 is at least pladsible.

Noting that Judge Koh granted the Hospital leave to amend in her case, plaintiff says

its amended pleading included additional details, which are also in the complaint now pending

before this court. Those additional details allege that by paying for all Hospital services at 14

of Medicare, defendants engagedmproper “reference pricing” with respect to the Hospital’s

% In a sur-reply, plaintiff also asks this court to consider other circumstances in the Envirotect
matter. However, in resolving the present motion, the undersgmedt be guided by what the

that

10%

Envirotech court reportedly discussed in a subsequent case management conference or what th

defendants in that case did or did not do in addressing the claims asserted against them.
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services. The upshot, says plaintiff, is ttat“non-network providers” exception to cost-sharing
in 8 18022(c)(3) doesn’t apply. Plaintiff’s allegations here are very convoluted and require some
unpacking.

According to the complaint: In a “reference pricing” model, a plan sets a “reference price”
for a certain procedure, such as a knee replacement. This price is disclosed to plan membe
advance and is designed to incentivize members to look for the best price for the procedure.

(Complaint § 143). The complaint goes on to allege, by way of an example, if a plan sets a

s in

reference price of $30,000 for a knee replacement, and a patient obtains service from a provider

that accepts the $30,000 price (or less) as payment in full, then the patient pays ntthfhg. (

144). By contrast, if a patient goes to a provider that charges $45,000 for the service, then the p

pays $30,000 (after the patient’s deductible or copayment), and the patient is liable for the
remaining $15,000.1d. 1 145). The complaint further alleges tthatconcept of “reference
pricing” typically applies to hospital services, but does not make sense for emergency or inpatient
care--because in a medical emergency, a patient typically cannot choose what hospital to gd
(Id. 77 148, 152).

Plaintiff says that throughout the self-funded period, defendants imposed an improper
“reference price” (i.e., 140% of Medicare) for the Hospital’s services across the board. Here, the
Hospital allegeshat one of defendants’ consultants would issue a “Report and Recommendation”
for a “Reference Based Pricing Review” for each of the Hospital’s claims. (Complaint 9 154-

155). This, according to the complaint, was done without any effort by defendants to set spe
reference prices for individual procedures at levels that any hospital in geographic area was
willing to accept. Moreover, the 140% Medicare “reference price” allegedlywas “largely”

applied to bills for emergency and inpatient carkl. { 157).

In this way, the Hospital claims that defendants violated written guidance (i.e., FAQS)
provided by the Departments of Labor, Treasury, and Health and Human Services, which arg
agencies tasked with implementing the ACA. (Complaint 1 161). Specifically, the complaint
that agency FAQs issued in May 2014 and October 2014, in relevant part:

e cexpressed concern that a reference pricing structure “may be a subterfuge for the
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(Id. 17163, 166).

hospitals, defendants used a reference pricing structure for hospital services as a subterfuge
without ensuring that plan members had reasonable access to quality providers. (Complaint

176). The consequence, says plaintiff, is spelled out in another agency FAQ issued on April

2016:

(Complaint § 174). So, back to the basic issue: DoeA&@#€s costsharing exception for “non-
network providers” apply to the Hospital? The Hospital says no, contending that the above-qu

FAQ makes it‘crystal clear” that if a plan is going to have a reference price (i.e., 140% of

imposition of otherwise prohibited limitations on coverage, without ensuring ac¢

to quality care and an adequate network of providers”;

e expressly prohibited a reference pricing stietfrom being used “as a subterfuge
for otherwise prohibited limitations on coverdgand

e made reference pricing inapplicable to emergency services; but

e nonetheless indicated that a reference pricing structure that treated providers W
accepted the reference amount “as the only in-network providers” would not run
afoul of the ACA’s MOOP requirement“provided the plan uses a reasonable

method to ensure that it provides adequatess to quality providers.”

The complaint goes on to allege that by failing to have a network that included any

Q7: If a non-grandfathered large group market or self-insured group health
plan as a pricing structure in which the plan pays a fixed amount
(sometimes called a reference price) for a particular proceoluréhe plan

does not ensure that participants have adequate access to quality
providers that will accept the reference price as payment in fullis the
plan_required to count an_individual’s out-of-pocket expenses for
providers who do not accept the reference price toward the individual's
MOOP limit ?

Yes The Departments’ previous guidance explained that, for purposes of

PHS Act section 2707(b), a plan that utilizes a reference-based pricing
design (or similar network design) may treat those providers that accept the
reference-based price as the only in network providers and not count an
individual’s out-of-pocket expenses for services rendered by other providers
towards the MOOP Iimit only if the plan is using a reasonable method to
ensure adequate access to quality providers at the reference Andan

that merely establishes a reference price without using a reasonable
method to ensure adequate access to gquality providers at the reference
price will not be considered to have established a network for purposes

of PHS Act section 2707(b). . .
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Medicare) for hospital services, then it has to have a network of hospitals, or at least one that
includes hospitals (i.e., providers who accept the reference price (cadésispayment)--if not,
then the ACA’s MOOQOP requirement is triggered.

Defendants reiterate that the Plan had a network of providers; the Hospital was not in

and hence, under the plain language of the dasing exception for “non-network providers,”
plaintiff clearlywas a “nonsetwork provider” under 42 U.S.C. § 18022(c)(1)(3). However, they
do not squarely address the complaint’s allegations about plaintiff’s reference price theory.

Indeed, they don’t say much about it at all, excephat it’s confusing. And, their passing

it

comments about network adequacy standards are not developed enough to be convincing here.

The court does not find the Hospitaleference price theory to be “crystal clear,” as plaintiff
contends. And, it remains to be seen whether plaintiff will actually prevail on that theory. But
this record, the court is unprepared to fihat plaintiff’s reference price theory is completely
implausible, as a matter of law.

Even if the ACA’s MOOP requirement is triggered, defendants argue that this claim must
still be dismissed becauép) defendants fully complied with the ACA’s MOOP requirements; and
(2) plaintiff has offered no legal support for the essential claim that a patient’s “balance bill” is
part of either the EHBs or the MOOP. These arguments fail to convince.

Pointing to excerpts from the Federal Register, defendants contend that in paying the
Hospital 140% of Medicare, they have fully complied with the ACA’s MOOP requirement. Those

excerpts concern tre-called“Greatest of Three” regulation, which provides, in relevant part:

b. Out-of-Networking Cost-Sharing Requirements

*kkkk

[O]ut-of-network providers may bill patients for the difference between the
providers’ billed charges and the amount collected from the plan or issuer

and the amount collected from the patient in the form of a copayment or
coinsurance amount (referred to as balance billing). Section 1302(c)(3)(B)
of the Affordable Care Act excludes such balance billing amounts from the
definition of cost sharing ...Because the statute neither requires plans or
issuers to cover balance billing amounts, nor prohibits balance hilling,
even where the protections in the statute apply, patients mayilk be
subject to balance hilling ...

[T]he Department determined it necessary that a reasonable amount be paid
22
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before a patient becomes responsible for a balance billing amount.
Therefore ... a plan or issuer must pay a reasonable amount for emergency
services by some objective standaBpecifically, a plan or issuer satisfies

the copayment or coinsurance limitations in the statute if it provides
benefits for out-of-network emergency services (prior to imposing in-
network cost sharing) in an amount at least equal to the greatest:aofl)

The median amount negotiated with in-network providers for the
emergency services; (2) the amount for the emergency service calculated
using the same method the plan generally uses to determine payments for
out-of-network services (such as the usual, customary, and reasonable
amount);or (3) the amount that would be paid under Medicare for the
emergency service (minimum payment standards)

(Dkt. 10-1, Ex. B) (emphasis added). Defendants maintain that this means (1) payment by pf

100% of Medicare is appropriate for non-contracted providers; and (2) if provider bills the pal

ans

ient

for amounts exceeding 100% of Medicare, then the patient can be liable under the ACA withput

any concern as to whether the MOOP has been reached. And, because they paid the Hospital

140% of Medicare (i.e., an “objective standard”), defendants contend that they satisfy the ACA’s
MOOP requirements anyway. However, plaintiff points out that, as reflected in a May 3, 201

agency “Clarification of Final Rules” in the Federal Register, the quoted regulation sets the

minimum that plans are required to pay for out-of-network emergency services. (Dkt. 23 at 9).

[e¢)

More to the point, plaintiff correctly notes that the plain text of the regulation requires payment of

the “greatest” of the three listed amounts. The Hospital maintains that the second option for
payment of “the usual, customary, and reasonable amount” is far greater than 140% of Medicare.

Thus, this court is not convinced tBanply paying for the Hospital’s services according to an

“objective standard” is sufficient to bring defendants in compliance with the ACA, as they seem to

claim.
Nevertheless, defendants maintain that this claim must be dismissed because plaintifi
offered no legasupport for the essential claim that a patient’s “balance bill” is part of either the
EHBs or the MOOP The specific focus of defendants’ concern seems to be that the Hospital
might be claiming that defendants are required to pay a patient’s balance bill, including for
services that aneot coveredby the Plan. Here, defendants seize upon allegations that “balance
bills are a form of cost-sharing because patients themselves are financially responsible for all
amounts that the Plan doest pay.” (Complaint § 120) (emphasis added). Now focusing on

what the ACA’s cost-sharing definitiorincludes, defendants point out that the ACA says that a
23
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patient’s “cost chare” includes the “deductible, coinsurance, copayments or similar charges.” 42
U.S.C. § 18022(c)(3). &endants argue that nowhere does the ACA say that a patient’s “‘cost
share’ is that portion of a provider’s charges that are not coveredby the insurance policy or self-
funded plan.” (Dkt. 17, Reply at ECF p. 15) (emphasis added).

Although the court has noted more than once that the complaint’s allegations are very
dense, the court finds no basis for defendants’ concern that the complaint seeks payment for
services that weneot coveredby the Plan. As discussed above, the complaint alleges that ong
patient’s cost-sharing limit has been met, the Hospital says that the ACA requires defendants

“pay 100% of the patient’s eligible healthcare expenses above the threshold for the remainder

the calendar year.” (Complaint I 93) (emphasis added). Additionally, the claim appears to be
premised on EHBs, which the Plan allegedly was designed to cover, even though it was not
required to do so. (Complaint 1 99-100). The Hospital alleges that the medical services it
provided to Rocket Farms patients during the self-funded petimcluding emergency care and
inpatient services-“are among the most important categories of EHBs.” (Id. 1 99). And,

“because the Plan [allegedly] paid at such an inadequate level,” the opposition brief seems to
confirm that plaintiff’s position is that “the Plan must ‘pick up’ the balance for covered medical
servicesabove and beyond the [MOOR}dshold.” (Opp. at ECF p. 16) (emphasis added).

Based on the foregoing, this claim is dismissed with leausméad as to plaintiff’s theory
re the Plan’s MOOP terms. However, defendants’ motion to dismiss this claim based on the
ACA’s MOOP provisions is denied.

D. Claim 3: False Advertising, Lanham Act, Section 43(b)

This claim alleges that while the Plan was in effect, Rocket Farms reassured its emplq
that the medical care provided by the Hospital was completely covered by the Plan and that
shoutl continue going to the Hospital’s emergency room for services, whether or not it was an
emergency. Rocket Farms allegedly knew these representations weresfasdically, that the
Hospital’s emergency services were no longer covered at an adequate level and that the Plan was
set up in a way that would not fairly compensate the Hospital. Plaintiff say®okti@t Farms’

alleged false statements resulted in “dramatic overutilization of the Hospital’s emergency
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services; whereby the Hospital was forced to (1) use emergency room resources to treat eve
Rocket Farms patient that showed up, even if there wasérgency; and (2) accept “an
extremely low level of payment, which Rocket Farms and the Plan refused to reconsider des

hundreds of requests.” And, by switching to an out-of-network arrangement, plaintiff says that

Rocket Farms made it impossible for its employees to seek more cost-effective outpatient care

from the Hospital’s clinics or urgent care centers. (Complaint 11 59-62, 229-240). The complain
furtheralleges that plaintiff “was economically harmed” and that Rocket Farms’ alleged conduct
“made it more difficult for the Hospital to compete in the marketplace for healthcare services.”

(Id. 9111 61, 236). The Hospital seeks trehleslages, plus disgorgement of Rocket Farms’ “ill-
gotten gains from improperly shifting its employees’ healthcare costs onto the Hospital during the
SelfFunded Period,” as well as an injunction prohibiting Rocket Farms from repeating its

allegedly unlawful behavior.Id. 1 238-239).

Defendants’ motion to dismiss presents two issues. First, the parties disagree whether
Hospital has pled sufficient facts establishing that it falls within the “zone of interest” protected by
the Lanham Act, as describedliaxmark Int’l, Inc. v. Static Control Components, Inc., 134 S. Ct.
1377 (2014} Second, even if the Hospital properly may assert a claim, defendants contend |
the claim sounds in fraud and therefore must (but fails to) meet the heightened pleading stan
under Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). Plaintiff points out that, although district courts are split on the isg
(and that it is not aware of pertinent Ninth Circuit authority), a number of courts have held thg
heightened Rule 9(b) pleading standard does not apply to Lanham Act claims. Because the
agrees with defendants on the first issue, it does not reach the second.

The Lanham Act “creates two distinct bases of liability: false association, [15 U.S.C.] §
1125(a)(1)(A), and false advertising, [15 U.S.C.] § 1125(a)(1)(B).” Lexmark Int’l, Inc., 134 S. Ct.

at 1384. Although a plaintiff need not be a direct competitor of the defendant in order to brin

4 Although defendants describe the issue as one of “prudential standing,” the Supreme Court has
clarified that the term is a “misnomer’ as applied to the zone-of-interests analysis, which asks
whether ‘this particular class of persons ha[s] a right to sue under this substantive statute.’”
Lexmark, 134 S. Ct. at 1387 (quotidgs 'n of Battery Recyclers, Inc. v. EPA, 716 F.3d 667, 675-
76 (D.C. Cir. 2013)).
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Lanham Act claim, “a statutory cause of action extends only to plaintiffs whose interests fall
within the zone of interests protected by the law invdked. at 1388.“To invoke the Lanham
Act’s cause of action for false advertising, a plaintiff must plead (and ultimately prove) an injur
to a commercial interest in sales or business reputation proximately causedidfgrtiant’s

misrepresentations.” 1d. at 1395. Thus, Lexmark hetthat a plaintiff suing under § 1125(a)

ordinarily must show economic or reputational injury flowing directly from the deception wrought

by the defendant’s advertising; and that that occurs when deception of consumers causes the
withhold trade from the plaintiff. Id. at 1391.

The complaint contains no facts demonstrating that plaintiff suffered injury in sales or
reputation as a result of patients declining to seek treatment from the Hospital. Indeed, the
allegations suggest that patients continued to flock to the Hospital for healthcare as a result
Rocket Farms’ alleged conduct. In its opposition, plaintiff asserts for the first time that it suffere
reputational harm becausghe Plan’s low level of payments led the Hospital to bill the patients
for the balance” and becaus®patients who were caught in the middle of this payment dispute may
no longer want to come to the Hospital in the future.” (Dkt. 15, Opp. at ECF p. 27). Additionally,
plaintiff suggests that the Hospitalas impaired in its ability to receive and treat other patients
who had health insurance that would pay far better than the Plan; instead it had to accept a |
unacceptable level of payment for Rocket Farms” own members.” (Id.). Putting aside that these
assertions appear nowhere in the compldiny; do not save plaintiff’s claim anyway. To begin,
the complaint alleges that the Hospitatobligated, by law, to treat all individuals who present at
its emergency room” (Complaint § 235); and, thHospital’s speculation as to what patients may or
may not do with respect to seeking treatment in the future is justépatculation. Moreover,
plaintiff’s assertions, like the complaint’s allegationsindicate that the Hospital’s alleged
economic ifury stems, not from Rocket Farms’ alleged misrepresentations, but from plaintiff
having “to accept an extremely low level of payment” under the Plan. (Complaint J 235).

Accordingly, the complaint does not allege facts demonstrating that the Hospstal fall
within the “zone of interest” protected by the Lanham Act’s false advertising provisions, and

plaintiff has not convincingly demonstrated that the deficient allegations may be remedied or
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amendment. Defendants’ motion to dismiss this claim therefore is granted, without leave to
amend.

E. Claims 4 and 5: Intentional and Negligent Misrepresentation

These claims are based on the same underlying facts: The complaint alleges that, in
calls to verify/approve coverage for several Rocket Farms patients, defendants (falsely)
represented to the Hospital that the Plan would cover 70% of thetpatiedical bills, up to
$21,666, after which it would cover 108%and failed to disclose that payments under the Plan
would actually be capped at 140% of Medicare. Additionally, plaintiff alleges that defendants

affirmatively represented to the Hospital that the Plan had a maximum out-of-pocket limit of

phol

$6,350 for each claim, but failed to disclose any limitation or exclusion that (reportedly) applied tc

the Plan’s MOOP. Plaintiff says that it relied to its detriment on these alleged misrepresentati
and that the Plan did not pay as promised, instead paying only about a third of the total expe
for each patient’s treatment. (Complaint{[1193-210, 241-257

Defendants argue that these claims fail to satisfy the heightened pleading standard fo
fraud claims under Fed. R. Civ. P. 9¢b¥In alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state with
particularity the circumstancesnstituting fraud or mistake.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). However,
“[m]alice, intent, knowledge, and other conditions of a péssaind may be alleged generally.”
Id. “A pleading is sufficient under rule 9(b) if it identifies the circumstances constituting fraud
that a defendant can prepare an adequate answer from the allegations. While statements of
time, place and nature of the alleged fraudulent activities are sufficient, mere conclusory
allegations of fraud an@sufficient.” Moore v. Kayport Package Express, Inc., 885 F.2d 531, 5
(9th Cir. 1989). “To comply with Rule 9(b), allegations of fraud must be specific enough to giy
defendants notice of the particular misconduct which is alleged to constitute the fraud charge
that they can defend against the charge and not just deny that they haweytlang wrong.”
Bly-Magee v. California, 236 F.3d 1014, 1019 (9th Cir. 2001) (internal quotations and citation

> Defendants originally argued that these claims were preempted by ERISA. However, at or:
argument, defendants confirmed that they are no longer pursuing that argument. See Envirg
Molded Products., 2017 WL 5172389 at *5-6 (concluding BRISA did not preempt plaintiff’s
claims for negligent and intentional misrepresentation).

27

ons

nse

-

SO

the

A0

e

d sc

tect




United States District Court
Northern District of California

© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N N N N N N N N DN P P R R R R R R R
0o N o o A WO N R O O 0O N o A W N - O

omitted).
The Hospital’s complaint identifies the specific patients (by initials), the nature of the
services provided, the month and year when the authorization phone calls were made, and W
defendants’ representatives allegedly told the Hospital staff, i.e., that the Plan covered 70% of the
patient’s medical bills up to a certain amount (the dollar amounts are specified for each patient),
after which it would cover 100%. These allegations state a plausible claim for relief and are
sufficient to put defendants on notice as to the nature of the alleged fraud such that they can
defend against the charge. Defendants’ motion to dismiss Claims 4 and 5 is denied.
ORDER
Based on the foregoing, defendant’s motion to dismiss the complaint is granted in part an
denied in part:
e Claim 1 (ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B)) is dismissed, with leave to amend only as
specified above;
e Claim 2 (ACA Setion 2707 “via ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B)) is dismissed with respect
to the Plan’s MOOP terms, with leave to amend. However, defendants’ motion to
dismiss this clainbased on the ACA’s MOOP provisions is denied.
e Claim 3 (Lanham Act § 43(a) (unfair advertising) is dismissed without leave to
amend.
e The motion to dismiss Claims 4 and 5 (intentional and negligent misrepresenta
is denied.
If plaintiff chooses to amend its complaint, the amended pleading must be fileddy
15, 2018
SO ORDERED.
Dated: May 31, 2018

HOWARD R. JLOYD
Unitgd States"Magistrate Judge
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